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PREFACE 
 
The Self Help Guide for Economic Development and Non-Profit Organizations has been 
developed to help groups or organizational entities become non-profit Societies. This document 
includes information on the following: 
 

• how to incorporate as a non-profit organization 
• how to develop strategic and operational plans 
• board governance 
• planning and running meetings 
• how to hire, monitor and evaluate staff—in particular executive directors and directors  
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I. DEVELOPING AN ORGANIZATIONAL FRAMEWORK 

 
A. Section Overview 

The following section briefly describes the first steps in developing a non-profit 
organization. They include: 
• Establishing the organization’s vision and mission statements.  
• Incorporating options for the organization. 
• Agreements, understandings and contracts that may be entered into by the 

organization.  
 

B. Vision Statement 
The vision statement paints a picture of what the organization will look like in the 
future. These statements are usually: 
• Short, concise and easily communicated; 
• Energizing, positive, inspiring, and a challenge; 
• Shared and supported by all affected stakeholders and partners; and  
• Developed through consultation with stakeholders. 
 
If the vision statement is comprised of many complex elements, then it can be 
supported by a document that describes, in detail, the elements of the vision. This will 
provide a greater understanding of the vision being described. 
 
The vision statement may act as one of the first steps in establishing long-term 
commitment to the organization from the stakeholders.  

 
C. Mission Statement 

The mission statement defines the business that the organization is in today. It 
describes the following: 
• Why an organization exists? 
• Who the organization serves? 
• What services the organization provides? 
• It may also include the organization’s beliefs, value it provides to its clients and 

customers, and the organization’s commitments. 
 

D. Incorporation 
Why Incorporate?  
Incorporation gives structure to the activities of an organization. The basic framework 
and governing rules of the organization are defined through the process of 
incorporation. 

 
Incorporation options for non-profits:  
Non-profit organizations usually incorporate either as a Society or as a Not-For Profit 
(Part 9) Company:  
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1. Incorporating Under the Societies Act  

 
• Most non-profit organizations in Alberta incorporate under the Societies Act, a 

statute of the province of Alberta. However, Section 3(1) of the Societies Act 
states that five or more persons may become incorporated under this Act f or 
any benevolent, philanthropic, charitable, provident, scientific, artistic, literary, 
social, educational, agricultural, sporting or other, useful purpose, but not for 
the purpose of carrying on a trade or business. 
 

• A group is not required to incorporate under the Societies Act.  The decision to 
incorporate is made by each group. 
 

• Advantages to incorporating, as per the Societies Act include: 
 
• A member of a Society may not be held responsible for the debts of the 

Society.  
• A Society may own property and may enter into contracts itself, as 

opposed to its individual members entering into the contract. 
• Public perception of an incorporated Society is that it has a more 

permanent status than a non-incorporated group.  
 

a) How to incorporate under the Societies Act 
Step 1  Choose a name for the Society.  

 
Step 2  Complete an application form.  
This includes the objects or purposes for which the Society was 
incorporated.  

 
Step 3  Complete a set of bylaws.  
• Bylaws articulate the governing rules and regulations for any Society.  
• The bylaws need to be written to meet the specific needs of an 

organization. 
• Bylaws must include, for example, how new members join, and what 

their rights and responsibilities include. Other bylaws must set out how 
the membership will be notified for meetings, how directors may be 
appointed and removed, etc.. 

• The following list represents topics commonly covered in a Society’s 
bylaws: Topics noted with an asterisk (*) are required under the 
Societies Act. 
• Name of the Society,* 
• Bylaws-General, 
• Definitions, 
• Objects, 
• Membership in the Society,* 
• Meetings of the Society,* 
• Government of the Society:* 

• The Board of directors, 
• The executive, 
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• The committees, 

• Management and Financial Matters:* 
• Registered office, 
• Seal of the Society, 
• Financial records and books, 
• Minute books and other, records, 
• Borrowing powers, 
• Audit, 
• Indemnities, 

• Amendments,* 
• Liquidation and Dissolution.* 

 
Links: 
Societies 
www.servicealberta.gov.ab.ca/716.cfm#jm 
Provides information on what a Society is, how to form one, and the 
required forms and documents.  

Societies Act   
www.qp.alberta.ca/574.cfm?page=S14.cfm&leg_type=Acts&isbncln=0779726936
Legislation for forming a Society within the Province of Alberta. 

Societies Regulations 
www.qp.alberta.ca/574.cfm?page=2000_122.cfm&leg_type=Regs&isbncln=9780779732722
Regulations governing Societies within the Province of Alberta. 

Step 4 Document Submission 
To become incorporated under the Societies Act submit the following 
documents to the Corporate Registry of Service Alberta:  
• Society Bylaws,  
• Notice of Address Or Notice of Change of Address, and  
• Application to Form a Society which is comprised of three parts: 

Part I – Name of the Society 
• The Registrar must approve the name of the Society before it can be 

used. 
Part II – Objects of the Society 
• The objects are the basic goals and objectives established by the 

organization.  
• They include the reasons that the organization has been created 

and its longer-term goals.  
• They define the powers of the Society. 
Part III – Incorporators of the Society 
• Application requires the names and addresses of at least five 

persons that will become the incorporators of the Society.  
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Links: 
Application to Form a Society   
www.servicealberta.gov.ab.ca/pdf/Forms/REG3088.pdf 
This form must be submitted to the corporate registry. 
Societies:  
www.servicealberta.gov.ab.ca/716.cfm  
Details on the processes and forms to be used for forming a Society can be 
found at the Service Alberta web site above.  

 
b) Forms that may be required by the Corporate Registry include: 

1. Amend Notices 
Amendments to objects and bylaws or name of Society must be in 
accordance with the Societies Act.   

 
Submit the Articles of Amendment Form directly to the Corporate 
Registry service provider. 

 
Links: 
Articles of Amendment Form 
www.servicealberta.gov.ab.ca/pdf/Forms/REG3054.pdf  
This form must be submitted to the corporate registry. 
 
Corporate Registry Provider.  
www.servicealberta.gov.ab.ca/719.cfm 
Provides information on what is Alberta corporate registry, services they 
provide, and where to find one. 

 
2. Change Notices 

Set out the complete address of the Society. If the address of the 
Society has changed then the Society, as well as non-profit companies 
and religious societies, is required to file updates of its addresses and 
changes to its officers and directors.  
 
Submit the Notice of Address or Notice of Change of Address Form 
directly to the Corporate Registry Provider. 
 
Links: 
Corporate Registry Provider. 
www.servicealberta.gov.ab.ca/719.cfm 
Provides information on what is Alberta corporate registry, services they 
provide, and where to find one. 
 
Notice of Address or Notice of Change of Address Form 
www.servicealberta.gov.ab.ca/pdf/Forms/REG3016.pdf 
This form must be submitted to the corporate registry 
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c) Annual Returns 

Annual Returns are a responsibility common under both the Companies 
Act and Societies Act. All companies must submit their annual return to the 
corporate registry on, or prior to, the last day of the month prior to the 
organization’s anniversary month (date on which it was incorporated). 

 
Also see:  
Annual Report (under section II G: Planning and Reporting, pg 25)   

 
Link:  
Forms for Alberta non-profit company   
www.servicealberta.gov.ab.ca/848.cfm  
List of forms for non-profit Alberta companies, including the Annual Return 
form. 
 

d) Obligations and Responsibilities after Incorporation or Registration 
Details of the ongoing obligations and responsibilities of a Society to 
remain in good standing with the Corporate Registry records and the 
necessary processes and forms to be completed are found at the Service 
Alberta web site at www.servicealberta.gov.ab.ca/718.cfm 

 
2. Incorporating under the Companies Act of Alberta (as a not-for profit (Part 

9) company)  
An organization should incorporate under the Companies Act (as a not-for profit 
(Part 9) company) if it is anticipating being involved in significant business 
activities. 
 
Until the early 1980s, the Companies Act was used to regulate the incorporation 
of most business companies in Alberta. With the passing of the Business 
Corporations Act, any company formed for the purposes of profit must be 
incorporated under this Act. The Companies Act still exists to regulate non-profit 
companies that have been incorporated under it and to incorporate new non-profit 
companies that will carry on a trade or business. 
 
• Process: Incorporation under the Companies Act follows a similar process to 

that followed under the Societies Act and is handled by the Registrar of 
Corporations.  

• Required documents: A Memorandum of Association and Articles of 
Association must be filed by the organization before a Certificate of 
Incorporation can be issued.  

 
Links: 
Business Corporations Act, Business Corporations Regulation 
www.qp.alberta.ca/574.cfm?page=2000_118.cfm&leg_type=Regs&isbncln=9780779740406 
The Business Corporations Regulations as per the Business Corporations Act. 
Provides information on corporate articles, naming a corporation, financial 
statements, auditor’s reports, and more. 
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Companies Act 
www.qp.alberta.ca/574.cfm?page=C21.cfm&leg_type=Acts&isbncln=9780779747986  
Provides information on the application of the Act, Memorandums of Association, 
registration and incorporation, memberships and shares, management and 
administration, directors, financial and borrowing, auditors, accounting and 
financial statements, and more. 
 
Companies Regulation 
www.qp.alberta.ca/574.cfm?page=2000_119.cfm&leg_type=Regs&isbncln=0773287973  
Provides information on documents required, notices of change, presentation and 
omission information, forms, fees repeals, and more. 

 
a) How to Incorporate under the Companies Act 

Step 1: Name of the Company.  
The Registrar must approve the name of the Company before you can use it. 
 
Step 2: Memorandum of Association.  
• The Memorandum of Association document is drawn up specifically for 

each non-profit company by, or on behalf of, the individuals forming the 
company. 

• It includes: 
• Name of the company;  
• Objects of the company;  
• Type of non-profit company--limited by guarantee, or limited by share; 
• Purposes for which it was incorporated; and  
• Purposes and special restrictions on the powers and the incorporators 

of the company. 
 
Step 3: Articles of Association 
• These are the rules and regulations on operating the company and are 

similar to the bylaws of a Society. They  include: 
• Address for the company, and  
• List of directors (depending on the type of non-profit company being 

incorporated). 
 

Step 4: Certificate of Incorporation 
• A Certificate of Incorporation is issued indicating that all of the 

requirements under the Companies Act have been met and the company 
may operate in Alberta. 

 
Forms that may be required by the Corporate Registry include: 
 
b) Change Notices 

• Societies, non-profit companies, and religious societies are required to file 
updates of their addresses and changes to their officers and directors.  

• Forms for these and other changes can be found through the Corporate 
registry or on  the Service Alberta website 
www.servicealberta.gov.ab.ca/848.cfm 
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• Forms must be submitted directly to the Corporate Registry Provider. 

 
c) Amend Notices 

• To process a name change or amend capital or bylaws, a non-profit 
company must prepare its own documents in accordance with Part 9 of the 
Companies Act. 

• These documents must be submitted directly to the Corporate Registry 
Provider. 

 
Links: 
Corporate Registry Provider  
www.servicealberta.gov.ab.ca/719.cfm 
Provides information on what is an Alberta corporate registry, services they 
provide, and where to find one. 

 
d) Obligations and Responsibilities after Incorporation or Registration  

• Details of the ongoing obligations and responsibilities to remain in good 
standing with the Corporate Registry records and the necessary processes 
and forms to be completed are found under the Services Alberta web site: 
www.servicealberta.gov.ab.ca/718.cfm 

 
Links: 
Non-Profit Companies 
www.servicealberta.gov.ab.ca/714.cfm 
Provides additional information on the processes and forms to be used for 
non-profit companies in Alberta. 

 
Forms for Non-Profit Companies  
www.servicealberta.gov.ab.ca/848.cfm 
Provides a listing of forms for the incorporation and maintenance of non-profit 
companies. 

 
E. Agreements 

Documents can be created to ensure there is a full understanding of the roles and 
responsibilities of all parties involved in the establishment and ongoing operation of a 
non-profit organization. Some of these documents are briefly explained below. 

 
1. Memorandums of Understanding (MOU) 

A Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) is a “Document that expresses mutual accord 
on an issue between two or more parties. MOUs are generally recognized as binding, 
even if no legal claim could be based on the rights and obligations laid down in them. To 
be legally operative, a MOU must (1) identify the contracting parties, (2) spell out the 
subject matter of the agreement and its objectives, (3) summarize the essential terms of 
the agreement, and (4) must be signed by the contracting parties; also called letter of 
intent.”1 

                                                 
1 Business Directory.com, Memorandum of Understanding, http://www.businessdictionary.com/definition/memorandum-of-understanding-
MOU.html 
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Many companies and government agencies use MOUs to define a relationship between 
departments, agencies or closely held companies. These branches of the organization 
fall under similar control structures but need to ensure smooth operations where there are 
shared resources or workflows. These could include areas such as service level 
agreements (SLAs), intra-organization connectivity, intra-organization communications 
and intra-organization escalations and response patterns. Like the MOU in law, it creates 
a platform for a clear understanding of each party's commitments/purpose and sets out 
expectations for a series of pre-determined responses should certain criteria be met that 
shows that there is either intentional or unintentional breach of the MOU's original 
commitments/purpose.”2 

2. Letters of Commitment/Charters 
A letter of commitment or charter, developed and agreed to by all parties, defines 
the principles and goals that the members of a non-profit organization will follow.  

 
Link:  
Sample Charter Statement  
XYZ Organization’s Charter Statement stating its Mission, Principles, Goals.  

 
3. Contracts 

When services of external consultants and contractors are required by a non-profit 
organization to supplement their own resources and/ or to utilize specific expertise 
for their projects or initiatives, a step-by-step approach is needed to develop each 
phase of the contracting process. In doing so, the non-profit organization can be 
assured that the consulting and contract services they hire will meet their needs. 

 
Link: 
Managing Contracts: Working Effectively with Consultants 
Provides information on when to use a consultant; type of consultant required; 
developing a project plan, terms of reference, and a call for proposal; proposal 
evaluation criteria; developing and negotiating the contract; managing the working 
relationship and more. 

                                                 
2 Wikipedia, the free encyclopedia, Memorandum of Understanding,      http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Memorandum_of_understanding 
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II. PLANNING AND REPORTING 
 

A. Strategic Plan 
The business plan describes the linkage between the vision and direction established 
by the organization and the execution of strategies on a day-to-day basis in delivering 
programs. A business plan: 
• Describes where you are going, how you are going to get there, and allows you to 

determine when you have reached your destination. 
• Generally covers a medium to long term period, typically 3-5 years, and is 

supported by yearly operational plans.  
• It is a living document, which is continually updated to reflect changes in the 

organization. 
• Positions the organization favourably to support its mission and vision. 
 
The Strategic Plan contains some or all of the following elements: 

 
1. Executive Summary  

The executive summary is usually a 1-2 page summary of the key elements of the 
organization’s business plan. It includes: 
• The purpose of the plan (what will be achieved over the life of the plan); 
• Accomplishments (how did you perform over the last year and how did you 

benchmark against others (go to B 13: Performance Measurement Criteria for 
information on benchmarking)); 

• Environmental scan impacts (major changes and challenges that will affect the 
future); 

• Major goals and strategies to achieve those goals; and 
• Resource plan (resources required to carry out the plan). 

 
2. Organizational History  

The organizational history provides a quick overview of how the organization 
came into being and what has transpired over time. 

 
This section generally provides the basis for understanding the key barriers and 
challenges the organization has faced, how they have been addressed, and how 
they have set the stage for future activities.  

 
3. Mandate   

This is a brief description of the authority vested in the organization to operate and 
highlights any agreements, legislation, or Memorandums of Understanding that 
typically exist for the organization. 

 
4. Vision Statement 

The vision statement paints a picture of what the non-profit’s programs and 
organization will look like in the imaginable future.  

 
This statement is often developed through consultation with stakeholders, and 
may occur as one of the first steps in establishing long-term commitment to the 

Self-Help Guide for Non-Profit Organizations, March 2008 14



 
program. As such, the vision statement is brought forward from this consultation 
process to provide additional clarity and direction to the strategic plan. 
 
Typically Vision Statements are: 
• Energizing, positive and inspiring statements of where and what an 

organization wants to be in the future 
• Shared and supported by all affected stakeholders and partners 
• If it is comprised of many complex elements then it can be supported by a 

document that describes, in detail, the elements of the vision. This will provide 
a greater understanding of the vision being described. 

 
5. Mission Statement  

The mission statement is a critical component of the business plan. It defines the 
business that the organization is in today. It describes: 
• Why an organization exists? 
• Who the organization serves? 
• What services the organization provides? 
• It may also include the organization’s beliefs, value it provides to clients and 

customers, and commitments that the organization makes. 
 

6. Organizational Principles  
The way the non-profit organization conducts business is an important element of 
the business plan. The organizational principles that the non-profit organization 
operates by provides the structure that is required of any organization to ensure 
that the integrity of the organization is maintained on a day-to-day basis, and in 
particular during the difficult decision-making processes that the organization 
faces. 

 
Organizational principles are usually developed through extensive discussion 
within the organization and can include stakeholder input. Organizational 
principles establish and declare the type of organization it wants to be and to be 
seen as. It creates a foundation for the organization’s culture. 

 
Principles may include: 
• Decision-making 
• Communication 
• Team-work 
• Relationships with stakeholders, partners, and the public 
• Conflict resolution 
• Interpersonal relationships 

 
7. Core Businesses  

This section allows for a more detailed discussion of the essential components of 
the businesses that the organization is carrying out. It typically flows from the 
mission statement. 
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8. Client Definition  

Describes who the organization’s clients are and allows the organization to 
continually focus its programs and strategies on those clients.  
 
The client definition can be expanded to include direct clients, internal clients, 
external stakeholders, partners and beneficiaries. 
 
Often the client is taken for granted or assumed to be understood by all those 
involved in an organization. This part of the plan ensures that the necessary 
discussion has taken place to avoid any confusion over who the client is. 

 
9. Environmental Scan (SWOT Analysis) 

Environmental scanning involves gathering information on relevant changes and 
challenges that may affect the organization’s future and helps it to better position 
itself to achieve its goals. 
 
A SWOT analysis is used to collect this information. It identifies the organization’s 
strengths, weaknesses, opportunities and threats and looks at both internal 
factors (the strengths and weaknesses) and external factors (opportunities and 
threats) that (may) impact the organization.  
 
Conducting a thorough environmental scan for it will have a direct impact on the 
overall quality, reliability, and value of the business planning process. 

 
External elements that may impact the organization, and that should be included 
in the SWOT analysis include: 
• Socio-demographic 
• Economic 
• Political 
• Technological 
• Industry/competition 
• Customer 
• Environmental 
• Legislative (Acts, Statutes, policies) 
 
Link: 
SWOT Analysis Worksheet  
 
 

10. Goals (Objectives) 
Goals (objectives) are the driving force in moving an organization from today’s 
position to the vision of the future. Goals may include an ends towards which 
effort is directed, or a strategic target or milestone linked to organization’s vision. 

 
In order to be manageable, a business plan usually has three to six goals on 
which the organization will focus at any given time. More than this number and the 
organization may lose focus on the priorities of the day. It is important that goals 
are realistic and based on the organization’s capacity. 
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11. Strategies 
Strategies represent the specific initiatives that an organization will undertake to 
achieve their goals. They state how initiatives of the business plan will be 
achieved and they are developed by carefully examining each goal and asking 
how must we act, or what specific activities and actions must we undertake, in 
order to achieve our goals? 
 
Strategies should be developed by individuals in the organization that are closest 
to program delivery, as they are the ones who have the skills, knowledge and 
understanding of the day-to-day needs of the organization, its clients and 
stakeholders. 
 

12. Outcomes and Outputs 
In the past, considerable time and effort was spent in defining inputs, activities 
and the financial performance of an organization. More recently, there has been a 
shift to measuring outcomes and outputs and the relationship between the use of 
resources and the outcome (efficiency and effectiveness measures). 
 
Organizations are being measured not only for the effort being expended but the 
achievement of specific outputs that are established during the business planning 
process.  
 

Outcome measure is the determination and evaluation of the results of an activity, 
plan, process, or program and their comparison with the intended or projected results. 
See also output measure. 

Output measure is the calculation, recording, or tabulation of the results of an activity, 
effort, or process that can be expressed in numbers (quantitatively).3 

 
13. Performance Measurement Criteria 

These are the measures against which success will be evaluated. They are 
developed after the strategies are developed and outcomes have been 
established. 

 
Although performance measurement is simply a method for assessing 
progression towards stated goals, establishing meaningful performance measures 
can assist a non-profit organization assess program effectiveness. 
 
Measures should be established based upon past experience and baseline 
information and standards should be based upon best practices across relevant 
industries on an international basis. 
 
All methodologies used to establish performance measures are based on the 
question: How will we know if we are successful in achieving our goals? 
 

                                                 
3  BusinessDirectory.com  http://www.businessdictionary.com/search.php 
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Performance measurement is dependent upon establishing targets. These targets 
are based upon the organization’s goals and on creating meaningful performance 
indicators to allow for measurement. 

 
Performance targets should be: SMART 
• Specific 
• Measurable 
• Achievable 
• Reproducible 
• Timely 

 
Links:  
Developing Performance Measures, The Public Strategies Group (PSG) 
http://www.psg.us/resources/pdfcontent/PerfMeasurePracField.pdf  
A guide to developing performance measures, including a step-y-step checklist. 
Other PSG documents can be found at http://www.psg.us/resources/writings.html 
 
Developing Detailed Performance Measures Worksheet 
A worksheet to help develop performance measures. 

 
Benchmarking is the practice of studying the best business processes of 
organizations that are considered the best in the world in their field and adapting 
their processes to your organization. 
 
Benchmarking requires a careful analysis of the unique characteristics of your 
organization and then applying best practices from other organizations that meet 
your particular situation. 
 
Using benchmark information, allows the organization to identify performance 
gaps and use that information to set performance targets to achieve and improve 
upon your organization’s goals.  
 
While benchmarking implies best business practices, it does not mean that 
immediate improvement to world-class standards is required. Instead, an 
intermediate level performance goal may be sufficient to significantly challenge 
your organization to improve its performance.  
 
Links: 
Six-Sigma—Benchmarking 
www.isixsigma.com/index.php?option=com_k2&view=itemlist&layout=category&task=category&id=32&Itemid=166 
This website provides a variety of information, links, and tools for best practices 
on benchmarking and other management tools. 
 

14. Baseline Information 
In order to be able to measure improvement in moving towards performance 
targets, it is necessary to collect baseline information as a starting point. Though 
this may be time consuming in the beginning, it is essential in being able to 
determine how much progress is being made towards achieving stated goals and 
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provides the necessary information to establish realistic performance targets, 
particularly in the initial stages of program delivery. 

 
The benefits of collecting baseline information include: 
• Establishing credibility for performance measurement and evaluation process; 
• Providing consistency over time; 
• Increasing public and stakeholder confidence in the program operations and 

progress towards its goals; and 
• Providing the necessary objective tools for determining program 

improvements. 
 

Mechanisms should be put in place to establish accurate baseline information 
early on in program development. 

 
15. Organizational Chart  

An organizational chart helps to clarify who does what in the organization. This 
chart is sometimes supplemented with a description of the key personnel and the 
roles they play in the organization. 

 
16. Resource Plan  

This section describes the human, financial (operating and capital), technological 
and infrastructure requirements that are necessary to carry out the business plan. 
 
Increasingly, budget and financial information is being presented with historical 
and current data as well as future period forecasts to provide for increased 
comparability and understanding. 

 
17. Strategic Alignment of Elements 

The Business Planning Process should create a strategic alignment between the: 
• Vision and mandate of the non-profit organization. 
• Established goals.  
• Strategies to achieve the goals.  
• Performance measures and targets that have been established. 

 
The following model illustrates how each of the components should be linked and 
aligned to ensure that each supports a unified direction for the organization: 
 
 

Vision/ 
Mission 

Mandate Goals Strategies Targets Outcomes 
 

 
 

 
 

ALIGNMENT  
 

By creating alignment amongst the business planning elements the: 
• Strategies are developed to support stated goals. 
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• Measures of success are easily understood by all involved in the delivery of 

the non-profit organization’s programs. 
 

B. Operational Plan 
An annual operational plan provides specific details regarding activities and initiatives to 
be undertaken during the fiscal year. These activities should be linked directly to the 
goals and objectives established in the strategic plan. 
 
The operational plan is adjusted each year based upon the results of reviewing the 
previous year’s actual results and the updating of the business plan. 
 
The operational plan should be comprehensive and detailed enough to guide the day-to-
day activities of staff charged with the responsibility of delivering the organization’s 
programs. 

 
The operational plan should be developed and approved as far in advance of the 
beginning of the fiscal year as possible to ensure that strategies and priorities identified 
in the plan can be successfully implemented. 
 
Primary components of an operational plan include the following: 
1. Title page. Includes the name of the organization and plan (XYZ  200X Operational 

Plan) 
2. Backgrounder. Provides a brief history of the organization, why the plan is being 

developed, the fiscal year the operational plan covers, a brief overview of the plan, 
and how it is connected to the organization’s business plan. 

3. Core business of the organization. Briefly states what business the organization is 
in.  

4. Board of Directors. List of the Board of Directors, their titles, brief backgrounds, and 
contact information. 

5. Members List. Lists the members of the organization for that year of operation. 
6. Activities Schedule. Month by month schedule depicting the start and end dates of 

all activities the organization plans to undertake during the operational year. 
7. Budget.  
8. Work-plan. The work-plan outlines each initiative under each of the organization’s 

core businesses and includes the following: 
• Core Business 

• Initiative 
• Action required to undertake the initiative,  
• Expected results,  
• Personnel involved, 
• Schedule 
• Estimated budget 
• Progress of the activity to date 
• Risks involved in undertaking the initiative 
• Comments 
• When the work-plan for this initiative was last updated. 

 
9. Other. Other information that may be relevant to the operational plan. 
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10. Financials. The organization’s financial statements including assumptions to the 

financial statements. 
11. Evaluation process. States how the organization will evaluate whether it had 

achieved its stated objectives according to the plan. 
 
Link: 
Sample Operational Plan 
A sample Operational Plan with templates 
 

C. Annual Budget 
The Board of the non-profit organization is responsible for developing an annual budget 
for ratification by presentation to its members. 
 
The budget serves two primary purposes: 
1. Planning:  To accomplish the goals and strategies set out in the business plan, 

resources must be expended. The budget translates the business plan activities into 
financial terms. By approving a budget the Board is confirming the amount of 
resources expected to be spent in order to deliver the activities and outcomes stated 
in the business plan. 

 
2. Monitoring : Actual expenditures are reviewed on an on-going basis against the 

planned budget. This allows the organization to determine whether activities are 
inline with the original approved resource budget to deliver the planned activities. 
Periodic monitoring of the actual expenditures and revenues against the budget 
allows the organization to react and adjust its resource strategy to meet objectives. 

 
The budget should be supported with sufficient detail so that each budget item is clearly 
understood by all Board members. In addition, budget approvals should provide the 
necessary resources and financial plan to accomplish stated business plan activities for 
that budget period. 
 
On a periodic basis (usually monthly) financial statements are produced showing actual 
expenditures for the period. These statements are compared to the original budget to 
ensure that the financial plan is on course. 

 
D. Financial Statements 

Financial statements provide an overview of a business's financial condition for both 
short and long term time periods. They provide assurance that revenues are collected 
and managed properly and that the fiduciary responsibilities of non-profit organizations 
are being carried out properly.  
 
Financial Statements should be prepared periodically (usually monthly or quarterly) to 
provide a picture as to the financial status of the organization for the current period and 
the year-to-date. 
 
Annually completed financial statements should be prepared for presentation at the 
Annual General Meeting and for submission with Annual Returns that are required under 
legislation. 
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The requirements for Societies should be contained in their by-laws. Normally, bylaws 
state that the financial statements shall be audited by a duly qualified accountant or by 
two members of the Society elected for that purpose at the Annual General Meeting. 
 
Non-profit companies are generally required to submit a certified copy of the last audited 
balance sheet and a certified copy of the auditor report. 
 
Audited financial statements are usually required to support applications for funding from 
organizations from which funding is being sought. 
 
There are four basic financial statements. They should be prepared in the order as listed 
below4,5: 
 
1. Income statement: (also referred to as Statement of Earnings or Profit and Loss 

Statement). 
• The income statement measures the success of the organization’s operations for 

a given period of time. 
• It is used to: 

a) Evaluate operational performance; 
b) Determine credit worthiness; 
c) Predict the amounts, timing, and demand of future cash flows; and   
d) Provide information on the nature of income and expenditures. 

• At the end of a period of time, total expenses are deducted from total revenues to 
measure the net income or net loss for that time period.  

• Elements of an income statement are: 
a) Revenues: fees, interest, dividends, rent, grants, contracts, etc. 
b) Expenses: depreciation, interest, rent, salaries, wages, etc. 
c) Net Gains or losses 

• If expenses for a period exceed revenues, a loss results and shareholders equity 
is decreased. 

• Equation: Total Expenses –Total Revenues = Net Profit (or Loss) 
 

2. Statement of Retained Earnings:  
• The Statement of Retained Earnings is a reconciliation of the balance of the 

retained earnings account from the beginning of the year to the end of the year. It 
covers the same period as the income statement. The earnings are an 
accumulation of all past net income less any dividends paid out. 

• It is prepared to assist in the assessment of overall performance by providing 
additional information on why net assets have increased or decreased during the 
period. 

• Equation: Net Income – Dividends= Retained Earnings. 

                                                 
4  Intermediate Accounting, 5th Edition, Kieso, Weygandt, Irvine, Silvester, Young 1997 Chpts. 4, 5, 23. 
5  http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Income_statement 

http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Statement_of_retained_earnings 
http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Balance_sheet 
http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Statement_of_cash_flows 
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3. Balance sheet: also referred to as Statement of Financial Position or Condition 
• The balance sheet provides a basis for: 

a) Computing rates of return (relationship between assets and liabilities); 
b) Evaluating the capital structure (relationship between liabilities and owner’s 

equity); and  
c) Assessing the liquidity and financial flexibility of the organization. 

• Balance sheets are used to analyze an organization's liquidity, risk, future cash 
flows, and financial flexibility.  

• It summarizes the assets, liabilities, and equity of an organization as of a given 
point in time. 

• Elements of a Balance Sheet: 
a) Assets : current assets, long term investments, inventory, other assets; 
b) Liabilities: current liabilities (payables, collections, etc.) and long term liabilities 

(mortgages, loans, etc) 
c) Shareholders equity: 

1. Share capital: proceeds received from the issue of shares, 
2. Contribution surplus: miscellaneous equity items, 
3. Retained Earnings: the organization’s undistributed earnings. 
4. Equation: Assets = Liabilities + Shareholders Equity 

              Shareholders Equity = Common Stock +[(retained earnings-
dividends) + (revenue –expenses)] 

4. Statement of cash flows:  
• Statement of Cash Flows reports on a company's cash flow activities, particularly 

its operating, investing and financing activities. The cash flow statement includes 
only inflows and outflows of cash and cash equivalents; it excludes transactions 
that do not directly affect cash receipts and payments. These non-cash 
transactions include depreciation and write-offs on bad debts. The cash flow 
statement provides answers to: 
a) Where did Cash come from during the period? 
b) For what purpose was the cash used during the period? 
c) What was the change in the cash balance during the period? 

• Cash receipts in cash payments during the period are classified under the 
following activities: 
a) Operating activities: cash effects of transactions that enter into the 

determination of net income. 
b) Investing activities: they include 1) making and collecting loans, 2) acquiring 

and disposing of investments (both debt and equity) as well as property, plant, 
and equipment. 

c) Financ ing activities: involves liability and shareholders equity items and 
include 1)obtaining resources from owners and providing them with a return on 
and return of their investment, and 2) borrowing money from creditors and 
repaying the amounts borrowed. 

• Helps users evaluate the liquidity (nearness of cash), solvency (ability to pay) and 
financial flexibility of an organization.  

• Format of the statement: 
Cash flows from operations                                     XXX 
Cash flows from investment                                    XXX 
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Cash flows from financing………………………...XXX  
Net increase (decrease) in cash equivalents…… …XXX 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year…..XXX 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year      XXX 

 
Notes to financial statements: Financial statements are often complex and may 
include an extensive set of notes to the financial statements and management 
discussion and analysis. The notes typically describe each item on the balance sheet, 
income statement, and cash flow statement in further detail. Notes to financial 
statements are considered an integral part of the financial statements. 

 
E. GST Rebate 

In order for an organization to claim the GST Rebate the organization will need to 
account for the amount of GST that is paid on all expenditures.  
 
Normally the amount of GST will be posted to a GST expense account. This will easily 
identify the total GST paid and will be available for review and audit by the organization’s 
auditors. 
 
In order to claim a rebate, the non-profit organization is required to submit the following 
two forms to Canada Customs and Revenue Agency: 
 
1. Non-Profit Organizations-Government Funding 

www.cra-arc.gc.ca/E/pbg/gf/gst523-1/README.html
Submit this form to claim a public service body rebate as a non-profit organization. 

 
2. GST/HST Rebate Application for Public Service Bodies 

www.cra-arc.gc.ca/E/pbg/gf/gst66/README.html  
Submit this form if applying for GST rebate as a public service body or non-profit 
organization. 

 
If you require further information on claiming the GST rebate you should contact the 
nearest office of the Canada Customs and Revenue Agency and your organization’s 
accountant. 
 
Link: 
GST Rebate  Program  
http://www.buildingcanada-chantierscanada.gc.ca/funprog-progfin/base/gst-tps/gst-tps-
eng.html 
Provides information on the Goods and Services (GST) GST rebate program. 
 

F. Annual Return 
Under both the Societies Act and the Companies Act, organizations are required to 
submit Annual Returns to the Corporate Registry every year.  The annual return provides 
information about the directors and/or officers for societies and non-profit companies. 
 
The Corporate Registry sends a pre-printed annual return form to societies and non- 
profit companies one month prior to their anniversary month for completion. 
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Annual returns must be completed and returned to the Corporate Registry by the end of 
the month following the anniversary month. If the annual return information is not filed, 
the Alberta Corporation, Society, or non-profit company will ultimately be dissolved.  If an 
extra-provincial corporation does not file its annual return information, its registration will 
be cancelled in Alberta. 
 
Links: 
Not–for-Profit 
www.servicealberta.gov.ab.ca/848.cfm 
Provides a list of forms required by not-for profit organizations. 
 
Societies 
www.servicealberta.gov.ab.ca/847.cfm 
Provides a list of forms required by Societies. 
 

G. Annual Report 
On an ongoing basis non-profit organizations must ask themselves how they are doing. 
In order to answer this question they must assess: 
• The progress made towards achieving the goals stated in their operational and 

strategic plan. 
• The performance of their internal operations. 
• The performance of the governing Board. 

 
Monitoring and evaluation of the organization assists in determining whether the 
organization has met its established goals or expectations. Monitoring and evaluation 
provide essential information for making business decisions, for making improvements to 
programs, and for communicating to management, stakeholders, members, and the 
public. 

 
As part of the governing body’s role, the non-profit organization is usually required to 
report its progress towards meeting its goals, on a regular basis. The frequency of the 
reporting is most often determined by the frequency that the governing body meets 
(monthly, quarterly, etc).  

 
Regular results monitoring and evaluating during the operating cycle provides both 
management and Boards of directors with the ability to react to and act to make changes 
in operations in a timely fashion, if needed. 

 
As part of the governing body’s role, they must also assess the performance of the 
internal operations. This is achieved by: 
a. Looking at the overall performance of the organization in its achievement of business 

plan goals, 
b. Regularly evaluating the Chief Executive Officer (who has overall responsibility for 

the day-to-day operations) to assess performance against expectations established 
by the governing body. 
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The success of an organization is dependent upon the effectiveness of the governing 
body (Board) that oversees its activities. The Board should: 
a. Establish its own performance expectations 
b. Review and evaluate its performance on a regular basis. 

 
Annual reporting is required in order to communicate to its stakeholders, actual results 
achieved by the organization. These actual results are compared, in the report, to 
planned results for each of its operational  or business plan goals. Included in the annual 
report are explanations of any variance (positive or negative) from established targets.  

 
Annual Reports provide an opportunity for the organization to showcase its programs 
and achievements and identify any change in direction or strategy that may be required. 

 
H. Additional Links: 

Board Development Program  
culture.alberta.ca/bdp/bulletins.aspx 
Provides a number of information bulletins and documents on developing Boards, Board 
governance, and more. 
 
Developing a Work Plan  
A checklist illustrating the key components when developing a work plan. 

 
Business Opportunity Identification Workbook 
Provides information and tools on identifying and developing opportunities within an 
economic region. Includes situational analysis, evaluation criteria, establishing priorities, 
and more. 
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III.  MEETINGS 
 

A. Section Overview 
A number of processes are required for conducting various types of meetings of the 
Board of Directors. These meeting types include: 
• Regular meetings 
• Executive meetings 
• Special meetings  
• Annual general meetings 

 
B. Regular Meeting 

Regular meetings are conducted with the Board as a whole to address matters requiring 
consideration or decision by the organization. Non-members or special guests may also 
be invited to present information or for any other purposes chosen by the Board. 
However, only members of the Board are eligible to vote on motions made by the Board.  
 
During regular meetings, the items discussed will depend on the business at hand. 
Typically a report on operations and interim financial reports are presented, as well as 
findings and recommendations of various committees (use of committees will be 
discussed later in this document). 
 
The Board may chose to close all or a portion of the meeting to anyone not on the Board, 
and to not record details of the discussion in the minutes. When this happens, the Board 
is holding its meeting in camera. This may be appropriate when the Board is discussing 
personnel matters, such as expelling a member, firing an employee or removing a 
director from the Board. 

 
1. Timing 

Timing of meetings is dependent upon the operational needs of the organization and 
its size. Often subcommittees are established to meet on a more frequent basis, with 
the full Board meeting quarterly. Specific timing of meetings is generally described in 
the organization’s bylaws. 

 
2. Location 

Location of meetings should be central to the Board members if possible, allowing 
maximum access and attendance. Consideration should be given to alternating the 
location to give equal opportunity to members attending, or in a facility that allows for 
remote access through telephone or video conferencing or web-cast sessions. If all 
the members of the Board are located centrally, then it is helpful to conduct regular 
meetings in the same location to avoid confusion and inadvertently missed meetings. 

 
3. Staff Preparation 

Staff should be prepared to bring sufficient background reference material to enable 
them to respond as effectively as possible to requests for information from the Board 
regarding operational matters. Previous minutes and other details regarding actions 
taken are also helpful to assist the Board in their deliberations. As much information 
should be available related to the items included on the agenda to avoid unnecessary 
delays in decision-making. 
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4. Meeting Package 
It is recommended that an agenda be distributed to all members in advance of the 
meeting, along with related background material such as previous meeting minutes, 
written reports or other documentation relevant to items scheduled for discussion, 
tabling, or decision and action. 

 
5. Quorum 

The organization’s bylaws will stipulate the quorum for Board meetings – that is, the 
minimum number of Board members that must be present in order to legally transact 
business.  
 

6. Minutes 
Meeting minutes serve a variety of purposes: 
a) To act as an official permanent record of what took place;  
b) To help further the work of the group by serving as a reminder of why certain 

decisions were made and what actions were to be take; 
c) To provide a useful guide for evaluating an organization’s work; and  
d) To inform others, not in attendance, of what is happening. 

 
At a minimum, minutes should include the following information: 
a) Name of organization or group, date, start and end times of the meeting and 

location; 
b) Name of attendees, and list of who was absent; 
c) Motions made during the meeting, and the results of votes on motions; and  
d) Names and tasks of those delegated responsibility for an action, including 

timelines for completion 
 

Formal motions must be made and voted upon to record: 
a) Significant actions to be taken;  
b) Changes in policy or process;  
c) Approval of written information (such as minutes from previous meetings); and  
d) Acceptance of information (such as a Treasurer or committee report).  
 
For motions to be considered a vote must be taken amongst all members present 
and the motion will be carried based on the voting procedures of the organization. 
Voting may be conducted through a show of hands or by secret ballot. Details of the 
motion and results of the vote must be recorded in the minutes. 
 

7. Official Minutes  
Minutes from the previous meeting are usually reviewed at the beginning of the 
current meeting to determine if any changes to them are required. Once this is 
completed the Chair of the meeting signs them off and they then become the official 
minutes. These official minutes are then placed in the organization’s Official Minutes 
book. 
 

Self-Help Guide for Non-Profit Organizations, March 2008 28



 
The keeper of these official minutes is normally the organization’s Secretary or stated 
designate. 

 
C. Executive Meetings 

The Executive Committee may at times meet separately to deal with matters that cannot 
practically be dealt with during regular meetings of the full Board, or that cannot be 
conveniently resolved before the next regularly scheduled meeting. Executive meetings 
may also be held prior to regular and general meetings to assist in developing an 
agenda to guide these discussions.  
 
Significant policy decisions must be brought back to the organization’s regular meeting 
for decision by the Board as a whole. 

 
D. Special Meetings 

Special meetings are called to address a specific issue that may be time sensitive or 
significant enough to warrant a discussion separate from a regular meeting. The bylaws 
should indicate under what circumstances a special meeting may be called, who is 
authorized to call one, and what notice is required. Once the special meeting has been 
called, the same rules of order apply as for regular meetings. 

 
E. Annual General Meetings (AGM) 

An organization’s bylaws should state when its Annual General Meeting (AGM) must 
take place. Typically, an Annual General Meeting must be held within 90 days of the 
organization’s fiscal and operating year-end. The purpose of the Annual General Meeting 
is to: 
a) Approve the minutes of the previous year's Annual General Meeting and the agenda 

for the current Annual General Meeting. 
b) Present a report on the operational activities for the year based on the approved work 

plan for that year (what was achieved, what wasn't, what exceeded expectations and 
etc.). This is typically presented as a report from the president or chair. 

c) Present, and adopted by a formal motion, a set of audited financial statements for the 
fiscal year. This is presented as a report from the treasurer. 

d) Appoint an auditor, and possible legal counsel if this is a one-year appointment. 
e) Conduct an election of officers, if the terms of any current officers are expiring. The 

organization’s bylaws will set forth the process and timing of nominations, election, 
etc. 

f) Deal with any bylaw changes in accordance with the processes set forth under the 
existing bylaws. Typically societies are required to provide advance notice of any 
amendments or new bylaws to the organization's voting membership.  

g) Present and adopt the operational plan and budget for the new fiscal year. 
 

In addition to this formal agenda, other activities may be included that are appropriate 
and relevant for the membership. This may include a guest speaker, presentation of 
marketing initiatives, service awards, etc. 
 
It is important that management works with the current chair to ensure all members 
receive proper and appropriate notice in accordance with the organization's bylaws. 
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F. Additional Links: 

Effective Meetings  
Provides information on meeting preparation, delivery of information during a meeting, 
closing a meeting, meeting follow-ups and more. 
 
Effective Meetings.com  
http://effectivemeetings.com/  
A resource centre offering hands-on meeting advice for many meeting situations. Tips 
include preparing for a meeting, encouraging participation, and managing the process. 
 
Facilitator Recorder Guidelines 
These guidelines can assist in maximizing the effectiveness of a facilitator/ recorder and 
ensuring a positive environment. 
 
Board Development: Meetings That Work 
This document provides information on developing and facilitating effective meetings 
including common time wasters, purpose of the meeting, participants, minutes, taking a 
motion, and meeting tips.  
 
Board Development Program 
culture.alberta.ca/bdp/default.aspx 
This website provides a number of documents to assist non-profits with Board 
development and governance.  
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IV. BOARD GOVERNANCE AND MANAGEMENT 

 
A. Section Overview 

Some governance and management issues that non-profit organizations must contend 
with include: 
• Rules of Order, 
• The role and composition of the Board of Directors, 
• Policies for effective governance,  
• Boards self-evaluations. 

 
B. Rules of Order 

The business and meetings of the Board are conducted to make decisions to support 
the outcomes expected by the organization. 

 
Rules of order are a necessary tool to allow the decision making process to be carried 
out efficiently and effectively. It is in the best interest of a Board to articulate under 
which rules it will operate in order to allow for consistency in applying procedure and to 
reduce any confusion as to the processes to apply. 

 
Two of the more popular resources for adopting rules of order are: 
• Robert’s Rules of Order  www.robertsrules.org/  
• Bourinot’s Rules of Order  http://tao.ca/~cupe3903/web/?q=node/29/print 

 
C. Board of Directors  

Stewardship of the organization is the Board of Director’s primary responsibility as is 
the overall accountability for the organization’s performance and the governance 
practices adopted to accomplish the organization’s goals. 

 
Using effective governance practices, a Board will establish and monitor the long-term 
direction through policy development. Therefore, a Board should supervise, direct or 
oversee the affairs of an organization, but not manage them in a day-to-day sense. The 
Board delegates authority and responsibility to management and staff for day-to-day 
activities. In addition, Board of Directors should be responsible for the following: 
a) Adopting a strategic planning processes; 
b) Identifying principle risks of the organization’s business and implement appropriate 

systems to manage these risks; 
c) Succession planning, including appointing, training and monitoring senior 

management; 
d) Developing a corporate communications policy, and 
e) Ensuring the integrity of internal controls and management information systems. 
 
Board governance principles should also include the following areas: 
a) Roles and responsibilities of the Board and management, 
b) Approving and monitoring mission, vision and strategy, 
c) Approving and monitoring the organization’s ethical values, 
d) Overseeing external communications, 
e) Board appointments and composition, 
f) Appointments and evaluation of senior management, 
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g) Setting Board performance expectations, 
h) Assessing and reporting on Board effectiveness, 
i) Assessing the effectiveness of internal control systems, 
j) Orientation and training practices, 
k) Measuring and reporting entity performance, 
l) Conflict of interest guidelines. 

 
1. Composition of the Board 

Boards of Directors should be representative of the membership that they are 
accountable to and other affected stakeholder groups. 

 
The size of the Board should consider the range of skills and experience required to 
fulfill the organization’s mandate, but not be so large that it becomes unwieldy. 
Meetings will be more difficult to run and communication and consensus more 
difficult to achieve the larger the Board is. 

 
A study done by the Conference Board of Canada found the average size of Boards 
for Canadian corporations to be twelve.6 

 
The Dey Committee (Toronto Stock Exchange (TSE) Committee on Corporate 
Governance) identified Board size as a best practice guideline, stating that every 
Board of directors should examine its size and, with a view to determining the 
impact of the number upon effectiveness, undertake where appropriate, a program 
to reduce the number of directors to a number which facilitates more effective 
decision-making.7 

 
2. Elections 

An organization’s bylaws must explain how to elect directors and officers, if any. It 
may choose any system that makes sense for it and is practical and workable. 
 
Generally, Board members are elected at the Annual General Meeting. 
Nominations for Board members are called for at the Annual General Meeting and 
an election is held for each Board position in which more than one nomination is 
received. 
 
The bylaws can state that officers are also elected at the Annual General Meeting 
or that the Board, once elected can be given authority to elect officers from the 
elected Board. 

 
There can be a combination of both methods where only certain officers such as 
the president are elected at the Annual General Meeting and then the remaining 
officers are elected at the first Board meeting. 
The bylaws must also state how a director will be replaced if they resign, die or are 
removed from office. There are several possibilities: 

                                                 
6 Osler, Hoskin & Harcourt LLP. Directors Duties. Third Edition. March 2000. 
7 Toronto Stock Exchange Committee on Corporate Governance. The Dey Report, Where Were the Directors? Toronto. 
December 1994. 
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• The rest of the Board may appoint someone to serve the remainder of the term 

of the departing member, 
• The rest of the Board may appoint someone to serve the term until the next 

general meeting, 
• The Board that removes a director from office may appoint someone to serve 

the remainder of the term, 
• The sector or local who appointed or elected the director may appoint or elect 

someone to serve the remainder of the term, 
• The organization may leave the vacancy unfilled, providing that there is still a 

quorum for the Board. 
 

3. Terms of Office 
With regards to term of office, the organization should determine the maximum 
length of time a director should be allowed to serve as a Board member. As well as 
duration of terms, and the number of consecutive terms held by one individual. 
Although continuity on the Board of directors is important, the need for fresh 
perspective and input should be considered when establishing terms of office. 
 
Directors usually serve for one, two or three-year terms. 
 
If the terms are longer than one year, it is generally a good idea to have staggered 
terms of office. In essence, terms of the directors overlap so that a portion of the 
Board comes up for re-election each year. This provides change and new ideas on 
the Board while maintaining some sense of stability. 

 
4. Board Recruitment 

Board recruitment is often overlooked as a major responsibility of the Board of 
Directors. The Board of Directors has a responsibility to ensure the ongoing 
success of the organization. This can be assured by continually recruiting those 
individuals that can best add value to the Board.  
 
Some organizations establish a standing nomination committee to ensure that the 
recruitment of new Board members is considered a high priority and that the actual 
hard work of recruiting new members is carried out on an ongoing basis. 
 
Links:  
Board Building: Recruiting and Developing Effective Board Members for Not-for-
Profit Organizations  
This self-guided workbook provides information on evaluating current and future 
leadership needs as well as recruiting, developing, sustaining, and evaluating 
Board members. 

 
Developing Job Descriptions for Board Members of Nonprofit Organizations  
This document provides information on how to develop job descriptions for Board 
members and includes job descriptions for Officers of a Board. 
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5. Duties and Responsibilities 
a) General 

There are a number of standards of conduct that directors must meet in fulfilling 
their responsibilities to their organizations. These responsibilities are typically 
defined in the organizations bylaws. 

 
Although management and staff are responsible for managing the day-to-day 
operations of the organization, the Board of Directors assumes a central role in 
the governance of the organization since their primary responsibility is to 
promote the long-term interests of organization. 

 
Specifically, the Board of Directors should assume the following responsibilities: 
1) Oversight of the strategic direction of the organization. Developing a 

strategic business plan that includes the organization’s mission, values and 
strategies, 

2) Identification of the principal risks of the organization and ensuring the 
implementation of systems to manage these risks. Identifying, monitoring 
and managing the risks of the organization, 

3) Ensuring accountability,  
4) Providing both internal and external stakeholders with reliable information for 

decision making, ensuring reporting and disclosure is open and transparent, 
5) Ensuring the integrity of internal control and management information 

systems, 
6) Ensuring reporting and disclosure is open and transparent,  
7) Evaluating performance, 
8) Developing performance measures and evaluating the performance of the 

organization, 
9) Hiring, monitoring and evaluating the performance of the Chief Executive 

Officer, 
10) Conducting an evaluation of Board performance. 

 
A formal job description for a Board Member is an effective way for an 
organization and individual Board members to be fully aware of their 
responsibilities. A Board job description describes what is expected of a Board 
member and the relationships with others that Board members work with. The 
formal job description can be used to orient new Board members and to 
evaluate Board members’ effectiveness. 

 
b) Chairperson (or President) 

The person elected to manage the Board’s decision-making process and the 
people on the Board is called the Chair or the President.  

 
The Board chair does not manage the organization and its employees. This is 
the job of the Executive Director. 

 
To be effective the Board chair needs to: 
1) Have a high commitment to the organization’s purpose and its users, 
2) Be willing to contribute time and to support the resources of the organization, 
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3) Have the ability to work with colleagues, staff, volunteers and community 

leaders, 
4) Have the ability to represent the organization in the community. 

 
Effective decision making requires effective Board meetings. Board Chairs need 
to develop skills that will promote participative meetings to get the most out of 
every Board meeting.  

 
Chairs are seen as leaders in the organization by other Board members. 
Leaders earn credibility by earning the trust and confidence of those around 
them and must be seen as honest, forward thinking, inspirational and 
competent. 

 
Some of the major responsibilities of a Board chair include: 
1) Assuring that the Board fulfils it governance role; 
2) Chairs Board meetings and executive committee meetings; 
3) Delegates what can be properly delegated; 
4) Encourages Board member participation in Board meetings and activities; 
5) Keeps the Board focused on the organization’s mission and it’s long term 

direction; 
6) Leads the orientation of new Board members; 
7) Ensures that committee chairs are appointed; 
8) Ensures that the Board prepares an annual business plan and monitors the 

plan; 
9) Ensures that there is a process to evaluate the effectiveness of the Board; 
10) Deals with Board members who are not meeting expectations; 
11) Monitors the Board to ensure that the Board follows its own bylaws, 

policies and procedures; 
12) Prepares the Board’s agenda with input from Board members and the 

executive director; 
13) Provides leaderships to the Board team; 
14) Stimulates Board development activities; 
15) Serves as ex officio member of committees and attends their meetings 

when needed; 
16) Takes a lead role in fund raising activities; and 
17) Represents the Board to the community. 

 
c) Officers 

Although the Societies Act does not state how many officers or what officers an 
organization should have, every Society should have officers. Officers, other 
than the Chair as described above could include: 
1) Vice-chair  (or Vice-president): Acts on behalf of the Chair if the Chair is 

unable to carry out assigned duties: 
a) Learns the duties of the Chair and keeps informed on key issues; 
b) Prepares to serve a future term as Chairperson; and 
c) Works closely as a consultant and advisor to the Chair. 

2) Secretar y: Keeps the minutes and records 
a) Ensures preparation and preservation of the minutes of all meetings; 
b) Keeps the registry of members and ensures its safe storage; 
c) Prepares and sends notices of meetings; and 
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d) Ensures filing of the annual return, changes in directors, amendments in 

the bylaws and other incorporating documents with the Corporate 
Registry. 

 
3) Treasurer : Keeps the finances 

a) Ensures preparation of the financial statements; 
b) Supervises approval of expenditures, including signing of cheques; 
c) Works with auditors on the audit/review of the financial statements; and 
d) Presents the financial reports to the Board of directors at the annual 

meeting. 
 

Often the positions of Secretary and Treasurer are combined into a position 
called Secretary/Treasurer. 
 
4) Past Chair: the previous Chair, who provides continuity and stability to the 

Board. 
a) Supports the current Chair, 
b) May chair the nominating committee; 
c) Assists with orientation and training for the Board; and 
d) Voting rights need to be articulated. 

5) Other Officers: other officers may be elected to round out the composition 
of the Board based upon unique requirements of a Board 

6) Board Committee Chair(s): Chairs one of the committees created to carry 
out the work of the Board. 
a) Reviews the terms of reference and mandate for the committee; 
b) Recruits committee members; 
c) Orients members to the mandate of the committee; 
d) Calls meetings and develops agendas with the input of the members; and 
e) Guides the committee through its meetings to fulfill the committee's 

purpose. 
 

The bylaws should spell out how the Board of Directors names officers or 
whether the officers are elected at the Annual General Meeting. 

 
The bylaws could state that the officers are elected at the Annual General 
Meeting. Another method is for Board members to be elected at the Annual 
General Meeting and then the Board itself elects the officers from among the 
Board members. 

 
6. Committees 

The roles, authorities and responsibilities for committees established by an 
organization should be clearly laid out in policy.  

 
Committees are established to facilitate the Board in conducting its business. 
Committees of the Board allow the Board to have certain jobs done by smaller 
groups. This allows the Board to make more effective use of their time. The bylaws 
should clarify the appointment processes for committees. The number of 
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committees depends to some degree on the extent of involvement of the Board in 
the operations of the organization.  

 
Committees may present a problem if the direction taken by individual committees 
is inconsistent, or all Board members are not informed of significant policy 
decisions. To avoid fragmented decision-making by a Board, it is important to 
ensure that noteworthy decisions made by a committee are reported to the entire 
Board on a regular basis. 

 
The use of committees and the types of decisions they are authorized to make 
should be determined by Board policy. The Board itself must identify its working 
style, which committees should exist, and what their jobs will be. In many cases the 
purpose and terms of reference of the committee will be outlined in the Board’s 
bylaws.  

 
There are two types of committees:  
a) Standing committees are generally created through Board bylaw and function 

more or less on an ongoing basis. They usually include:  
1) Executive Committee 

Generally organizations form an executive committee or management 
committee that is comprised of a smaller group of key Board members that 
coordinate the work of the Board and meets more frequently than the full 
Board.  

 
The Executive Committee is often comprised of the officers of the 
organization and the chairs of standing committees. The Executive 
Committee deals with issues that cannot be conveniently resolved before the 
next regularly scheduled meeting of the Board. 

2) Audit Committee 
The roles and responsibilities of the audit committee should be clearly 
defined in order to provide appropriate guidance to audit committee 
members regarding their duties. The role of the audit committee involves 
interviewing auditors; reviewing bids; recommending selection of an auditor 
to the Board; receiving the auditor’s report; meeting with the auditor; and 
responding to the auditor’s recommendations.  

 
The audit committee should have direct communication channels with both 
internal and external auditors to discuss and review specific issues as 
appropriate. The audit committee duties should include oversight 
responsibility for management reporting on internal control. While it is 
management’s responsibility to design a system of internal control, it is the 
responsibility of the audit committee to ensure that management has done 
so. 

 
The role of the audit committee might also be to review annual budgets to 
ensure that there is consistency historical financial reporting and a linkage 
with the results reported in the annual report. 

3)  Nominating Committee  
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The nominating committee prepares a slate of persons to be nominated as 
possible officers and directors. 

 
The ongoing success of an organization can be dependent upon this very 
critical function being done well. Often the past Chair heads up the 
nominating committee and uses his past experience and knowledge of the 
organizations needs to recruit those most appropriate to meet the needs of 
the organization. 

 
b) Ad Hoc Committees are generally short term and are appointed for a particular 

purpose. An example of an ad hoc committee may be one established as a 
hiring committee to recruit a new Chief Executive Officer (CEO).  

 
D. Policies 

Directors are fiduciaries of the corporation they serve. Directors are to act honestly and 
in good faith with a view to the best interests of the organization. The fiduciary 
relationship dictates a strict standard of conduct which includes loyalty and good faith, 
and requires directors to avoid putting themselves in a position where their duty to act 
in the best interests of the corporation conflicts with their self interest.  
 
The establishment of director’s policies represents good business practice, 
strengthening accountability and protecting individual directors. Well thought out 
policies provide protection for the directors in carrying out their responsibilities.  

 
It is useful for Boards to establish formal directors reference manuals that summarize 
all policies and provides easy reference for Board members. 
 
1. Code of Conduct 

Directors of organizations need to conduct their business with efficiency, impartiality 
and integrity. A code of conduct will assist the directors in carrying out their duties.  

 
Similar to a conflict of interest policy, a code of conduct identifies a need to disclose 
situations where directors are in a position to gain personally or professionally by 
the activities of the organization. code of conduct should extends to include 
situations in which a director may personally benefit by their association with the 
organization by receiving gifts or employment contracts, which may call into 
question or compromise their impartiality and role as a director of the organization.  

 
2. Conflict of Interest 

Conflict of interest arises whenever the personal or professional interests of a 
Board member are potentially at odds with the best interests of the organization.  
 
Directors of an organization by virtue of their position of control over the affairs of 
the organization, stand in a fiduciary relationship to the organization. Therefore, the 
directors need to adopt a policy that will assist with their responsibilities as 
fiduciaries and as responsible stewards. Directors may have a number of 
relationships that may put them in a position of conflict.  
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A conflict of interest policy will ensure that no person benefits inappropriately from 
any transaction in which the organization is involved. An organization should have a 
policy that addresses conflicts of interest of its directors, officers and key staff. 

 
3. Confidentiality  

Some Boards deal with confidential financial or other information on a regular basis. 
Because directors oversee the affairs of the organization, they are in a position to 
receive potentially confidential information. The Board must ensure the 
confidentiality of the information it receives. An appropriate policy must be adopted 
that protects the information the organization has. It is important that sensitive 
information being dealt with by the Board be held in confidence. 

 
4. Communications  

Communications (or Public Relations) is an important function of an organization. It 
helps to establish a philosophy, achieve the organization’s objectives, adapt to a 
changing environment, and successfully compete in today’s markets. 

 
A communications policy provides overall guidance for how and when you need to 
communicate, both internally and with external stakeholders. This policy will include 
such elements like a crisis communications plan, a media relations plan, and an 
internal communications plan. 

 
 

Elements of a communications plan can include: 
1) Goals and objectives (what are we trying to accomplish?), 
2) Statement of philosophy (what are we about?), 
3) SWOT (What is our situation? Our strengths? Weaknesses? Opportunities? 

Threats?),  
4) Audiences (who wants to know? Who do we want to speak to? This can 

include both primary and secondary audiences.), 
5) Key messages (what do we want to say to our audiences? Customize your key 

messages to each of your different audiences), 
6) Strategies (how are we going to accomplish our goals?), 
7) Tools and tactics (what can we use? What are our resources?), 
8) Structures and processes (how do we work?), 
9) Roles and responsibilities (who is the best person for each task?), 
10) Formats and templates, 
11) Timelines (do we do this in stages or all at once? How long of a time period 

are we looking at?),  
12) Budget (what can we afford? Do we need to reallocate funds?). 

 
Links: 
Communications Planning  
This document provides information on why a communications plan should be 
developed, who should be involved in its planning, as well as the components of the 
plan. 
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Communications Plan Template  
This template provides a brief overview of the components of a communications 
plan. 

 
a) Crisis Communications Plan 

It is important to plan and anticipate for a crisis. The most important rule in a 
crisis is “get big quickly”.  It is imperative to drive the media agenda with your 
facts before others usurp public perception or speculation gets out of control, 
and you end up reacting instead of leading. You also need to be prepared in 
order to feed the media’s appetite for information.  

 
Planning for a crisis involves:  

1) Being prepared and keeping your information current via fact sheets or 
brochures. 

2) Establish a relationship before the crisis begins. Let your audience know 
about your successes and achievements whenever possible. This will build 
their trust for when a crisis occurs. 

 
A Crisis Communications Plan should include the following actions: 

1) Designate a spokesperson(s). Assign one person to coordinate with the 
media and outside audiences. You may have another individual speak to 
the media as an expert but always coordinate your efforts so that 
conflicting statements are minimized. 

2) Identify roles and responsibilities. Assign individuals roles and tasks for a 
response in a crisis. This will minimize the disruption to daily operations. 
You may also want to create a team to coordinate efforts.  

3) Determine what tools you will use. This will depend on many factors like 
who your audience is and what is the most efficient means of getting your 
message out. Develop both a system for internal and external audiences. 

4) Develop media kits. Use information that is already available (in a crisis, 
you don’t have time to create new information pieces). 

 
Other actions you may want to consider include advance training by role-playing 
and training spokespersons to handle the media. 

 
b) Media Relations 

Highlights / Media Relations tips: 
• Reporters are not your friends – not when they’re working. 
• There is no such thing as “off-the-record”.  Be aware that many reporters 

record telephone conversations for accuracy, quotes etc.. 
• You do not have to do an interview when a reporter calls you.  It’s ok to ask 

about the topic and take time (half an hour to an hour) to gather your 
thoughts and relevant facts. 

• Respect deadlines – If you say you will respond by a certain time, do so. 
• Develop three or four key points that you want to convey.  Will these points 

be of interest to the public? 
• Be conscious of other relevant organizational messages.  Has anyone in 

your organization spoken about this topic publicly?  What was reported? 
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• Ensure that the topic you think you are discussing is the topic the reporter 

thinks you are discussing. For instance, you might think you are giving a 
general overview, but the reporter thinks you are going to supply specific 
program details and policy. 

• You do not have to answer a question as it was phrased.  You can re-frame 
questions in your mind and respond in a way that allows you to get YOUR 
message across. 

• If the question is not clear, or if you need a minute to think, ask the reporter 
to repeat the question. 

• Do not go too far in answering a question. Stick to your key points. 
• Be credible, sincere and confident in your information.  If you are not the 

right person to answer, or do not have the right information, tell the reporter 
that you will provide them with an appropriate contact, or offer to provide 
them with the information later.  

• Be friendly, courteous and tactful, especially if you need to correct a fact. 
• If you make a factual error, go back and correct your mistake. 
• Your statements may be seen as a commitment on behalf of your 

organization. 
• Ensure that you stick to your area of responsibility. 
• Avoid jargon or buzzwords – the reporter may not understand you, and the 

public may not know what you’re talking about. 
 

c) News Releases & Advisories 
There are many reasons for issuing a news release and many types of news 
releases. The one question you should keep in mind is: “Is this news worthy?” 
Media outlets receive countless news release and advisories on a daily basis. 
For your news release to get noticed, it must be about something the media and 
the public are interested in. 

 
Keep in mind that sometimes a news release isn’t always the tool for 
communication through the media. Consider using letters and guest columns in 
your local newspapers to get your message out to the public. 

 
News Release Checklist:8 
1) Is the lead direct and to the point? Does it contain the most important and 

most interesting aspects of the story? 
2) Has the local angle been emphasized? 
3) Have who, what, when, where, and why been answered in the first few 

paragraphs? 
4) Are sentences short, concise? Paragraphs short? Words common and 

concrete? 
5) Has editorial comment been placed in quotation marks and attributed to the 

appropriate person? 
6) Are quotations natural? That is, do they sound as though they could have 

been spoken? 

                                                 
8  Public Relations Writing Form & Style, Fifth Edition, Doug Newsom and Bob Carrell, Wadsworth Publishing Company, 
1998 
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7) Has newspaper style (i.e. Canadian Press style) been followed faithfully 

throughout the release? {only follow one style; do not switch styles in mid 
text} 

8) Are spelling and punctuation correct? 
9) Have all statements of fact been double-checked for accuracy? 
10) Has the release been properly prepared, typed and double spaced? 
11) Is the release dated? Is release time indicated? 
12) Are names, phone numbers, fax numbers, and e-mail addresses for further 

information included? 
13) Ask for quotes from the appropriate representatives. Quotes from those 

involved will add more interest to the news release. 
 

5. Legal 
In particular, Board members may face liability in the following areas: 
• Fiduciary Responsibilities (honesty and good faith, avoidance of conflict, proper 

care and diligence and skill). 
• Statutory Liabilities (Directors can be held personally liable under certain 

statutes. Examples include; goods and services tax legislation; employment 
standards legislation; environmental protection legislation). 

 
a) Liability  

Organizations can support the fiduciary responsibility of their Board by ensuring 
development of a sound financial and management information system. 

 
Retaining legal counsel to provide advice regarding the organization’s business 
dealings is a necessary measure to ensure legal issues are identified and 
addressed. Also, incorporation of the organization will limit personal liability of 
individual Board members. 

 
The most important step an organization can take to avoid potential legal liability 
is to exercise reasonable care and due diligence in all its transactions. This 
includes such things as maintaining good business relationships and 
documenting the responsibility of contractors.  

 
Due diligence refers to the attention and care legally expected or required of a 
person. The Certified Management Accountants of Canada recently stated that  

Director’s duties are often broadly defined as the duty of care, the 
duty of loyalty, and duty of obedience. The duty of care refers to 
the diligence and skill that must be exercised when a member 
makes a decision as a steward of the organization, while the duty 
of loyalty means that members must subordinate their personal 
interests to those of the company, avoiding all possible conflict of 
interests. Finally, the duty of obedience, requires that members 
must both obey the law and ensure that the company itself 
complies with the law.9 

                                                 
9 Measuring and Improving the Performance of Corporate Boards, The Society of Management Accountants of Canada, 
November 2002. 
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b) Directors Insurance 
To protect Directors and Officers of the organization for losses sustained as a 
result of any wrongful acts, the organization should maintain Directors’ and 
Officers’ Liability Insurance in an amount sufficient to cover the potential losses. 
The amount of insurance should be determined after a careful risk assessment 
has been conducted to identify potential high risk activities of the organization. 

 
All members appointed to the Board must maintain adequate insurance 
coverage. Members of municipalities, school Boards, health authorities and 
other organizations may be covered under insurance plans held by their 
employer organizations. However, this should be confirmed with each 
organization to ensure that members are covered. 

 
Provincial government representatives are covered by insurance held by the 
Alberta Government. 

 
Links: 
Alberta Voluntary Sector Insurance Council 
www.ibc.ca/en/Business_Insurance/Alberta_Voluntary_Sector/index.asp  
This website provides information on insurance issues, coverage, liabilities, and 
more. 
 
Insurance Toolkit for the Voluntary Sector 
http://www.volunteeralberta.ab.ca/insurance/   
This website provides information on understanding and managing a non-profit’s 
insurance policy. 
 
Insurance Toolkit for the Voluntary Sector: A Guide for Non-Profits and Charities 
This document provides practical information to assist organizations understand 
their insurance needs and determine appropriate coverage.  
 
Also found at: 
www.ibc.ca/en/Business_Insurance/documents/Alberta_Voluntary/Insurance_To
olkit_online.pdf  

 
6. Finance 

Nothing can impact the operations of an organization more than the improper 
handling of its finances. The credibility and ongoing sustainability of an organization 
can be adversely affected by issues that arise out the handling of an organization’s 
finances. 
 
The entire Board is responsible for carrying out the fiduciary responsibility (the 
responsibility for funds entrusted to the Board) for the organization. This includes 
approving the budget, monitoring financial progress against the budget on a regular 
basis, ensuring that a good system of internal control exists, that financial records 
are properly maintained, that financial statements are produced and that the 
accounting records and systems of the organization are audited on an annual basis. 
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a) Bookkeeping 
Accurate financial records must be maintained in order to provide the basis for 
financial control and monitoring for the organization.  

 
b) Audit 

Generally speaking the books, accounts and records of the organization should 
be audited on an annual basis by a duly certified accountant that has been 
selected by a tendering process overseen by the Board of Directors. 

 
Audited financial statements should be presented at the Annual General 
Meeting for Board and membership approval. 

 
Links: 
Board Development: Financial Responsibilities of Not-for-Profit Boards  
This document provides information on budgets, bookkeeping, financial statements 
and audits 
 
Financial Responsibilities of Not-for-Profit Boards: A Self-Guided Guidebook 
Or  visit: http://www.muttart.org/  
This document provides information on roles and responsibilities, planning and 
tracking for results, ensuring accounts are in order, reading financial statements 
and more. 
 
Financial Sample Template of Activities and Costs 
This template depicts the overall activities of the operational plan and the 
associated costs per core business area. 

 
7. Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act (FOIP) 

The Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act came into effect for 
Government in 1995 and municipalities in 1999. It applies to both provincial and 
municipal governments. It does not apply to private sector companies or members. 
 
However, under the Act, individuals, organizations and companies have a right of 
access to records in the “custody or control” of Alberta Government and 
municipalities. A “record” is any recorded information (e.g. e-mail, electronic MS 
Office files, paper files, published reports, notes, working papers, minutes, “sticky” 
notes, audio and video tapes, photographs, etc.) 

 
a) How does this then affect private organizations supported by government?  

Although a private organization is not subject to the Act, depending on the 
nature of the record-keeping arrangement, the organization’s records could 
become subject to FOIP. For example, draft or final documents, minutes of 
organizational meetings, etc. prepared by or sent to an Alberta Government or 
municipal member would automatically be in the custody of those organizations 
and would be subject to the FOIP Act and would then be subject to a request for 
information under the Act. 
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Link: 
Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act  
This document provides more in-depth comprehensive information of FOIP. 

 
8. Remuneration and Reimbursement of Expenses 

It is important that funds not only be managed appropriately, but also that the 
perception of stakeholders and external publics is that they are being managed 
correctly. 
 
Formal policies should be in place relating to remuneration, travel and subsistence 
for the Board of directors for attendance at Board meetings. This would ensure 
funds are being used appropriately and in a prudent manner.  
 
Such policies should identify approved rates for items such as honorariums, meals 
and car allowances, and establish guidelines for such things such as traveling 
economy versus business class. Such policies would ensure maximum funds 
remain available for business operations, and provide stakeholders with assurance 
that funds are being used for the purposes intended and not to provide 
inappropriate “perks” to individual Board members. 

 
E. Board Evaluation and Reporting 

Periodically, Boards of Directors should undertake a formal self-evaluation to improve 
the efficiency and effectiveness of the Board as part of its overall accountability. 

 
“Self-evaluation is not extraneous to the job of governing. It is an inseparable part of 
governing.”…John Carver, Carver Guide to Board Self-Assessment 
 
The Board evaluation is: 
1. An integral management process that allows the Board to identify what is being 

done well and what must be done to continually improve the quality of leadership 
that is required of the Board. 

2. May be done by the directors or may be facilitated or completed by an outside 
agency. The evaluation will help the Board define and measure their expectations 
as a Board and can enhance a Board’s effectiveness. 

3. Simpler to conduct if an understanding exists from the outset of what the 
expectations and requirements are of each Board member. Establishing job 
descriptions for each individual, and developing a thorough orientation and 
education program for new Board members can significantly assist in this. 

4. Gives each Board member an opportunity to evaluate the Board’s overall 
effectiveness at accomplishing its goals. Some Boards perform evaluations 
frequently, for example a brief evaluation after the end of each Board meeting. 

 
Link: 
Board Evaluation Tool  
A check list guide to assist in evaluating non-profit Board 
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F. Board Training and Development 

To ensure that each Board member has the necessary tools and background to 
contribute in the most valuable manner to the organization, it will be necessary to 
provide ongoing training and development opportunities to Board members. This 
includes initial orientation to the organization and the role of a Board member as well 
as ongoing related workshops, conferences, videos and reading. Regular Board 
development training should also take place to improve the overall effectiveness of 
individual Board members and the Board as a whole. This is often accomplished during 
annual Board retreats. 

 
1. Board Orientation Program 

New Board members appreciate and benefit from an orientation to the new 
organization. 
An effective orientation helps new Board members understand the purpose and 
mission of the new organizations that they are involved with, what the current 
issues are and how the Board operates. 

 
The following methods may be used to provide orientation to new members: 
a) Group Sessions. An initial group session with all Board members may be useful 

in ensuring that they all have the same starting point for dealing with Board 
issues. Topics would include: 
• Beliefs and values of the organization and how they relate to the 

organization’s business  
• Business plan 
• Board structure and governance 
• Committee roles and responsibility 
• Familiarization with staff 

 
b) Reference Binder for Board Members 

• A practical reference binder for Board members to use during their term on 
the Board provides essential information for a Board member to carry out 
their responsibilities. 

 
 
 
Link:  
Sample Table of Contents: Reference Binder for Board Members 
A sample table of content depicting the type of information that should be 
included in a reference binder for Board members.  

 
c) Audio visual and multimedia materials 

• Audio visual and multimedia materials allow Board members to learn at their 
own pace and on their own time 

 
d) Mentors 

• By partnering new Board members with willing and experienced Board 
members, new members may feel more comfortable with their new role and 
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they will have access to a resource person to help them become familiar with 
their new roles 

 
e) Contact information 

• Contact information of all Board members and the organization’s web 
address should be provided to all Board members. 

 
2. Training 

Board effectiveness can be increased by providing Board members with ongoing 
training and development that relates to the role and functioning of Boards. The 
most effective Boards are those that identify a need for continual improvement in 
their functioning. 

 
Many Boards use the annual Board evaluation process to identify those areas that 
require improvement and then go about to develop a plan to conduct specific 
training activities. The activities include: 
• Information sessions at Board meetings, 
• In-service training and workshops, 
• Retreats, 
• External workshops and conferences, 
• Book, audiovisual materials and electronic resources, 
• Distance education, 
• Involvement in progressively varied and responsible assignments. 

 
G. Additional Links: 

Board Development Program offered through the Alberta Wild Rose Foundation 
http://culture.alberta.ca/bdp/default.aspx  
The Board Development Program is a unique service that provides assistance to non-
profit Boards in the area of governance through workshops, consultations, publications, 
training, presentations and more. 
 
Best Practices for Executive Directors and Boards of Nonprofit Organizations   
Provides information on non-profit organization best practices in the areas of Board 
governance, human resources management, strategic planning, partnerships, 
information technology, fundraising, marketing and more. This document can also be 
found on the Whatcom Council of Nonprofits website: www.wcnwebsite.org 

 
Corporate Governance  
A quick reference guide as to the overall responsibilities of the Board and its 
committees. 
 
Executive Leadership in the Non-Profit Sector  
http://business.macewan.ca/gmcc/vsm/home/index.cfm?CFID=75484&CFTOKEN=184
12524  
Executive Leadership program for non-profit organizations offered by Grant MacEwan 
Community College 
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Primer for Directors of Non-profit Corporations 
http://strategis.ic.gc.ca/epic/site/cilp-pdci.nsf/en/h_cl00688e.html 
Provides directors of non-profit corporations with guidance about their basic legal 
rights, obligations, and responsibilities, advice on what to ask in order to make an 
informed decision on whether or not to take on the responsibility of Director of a Board, 
provides staff and volunteers working with Boards an outline of the role of directors in a 
non-profit corporation and tools to ensuring a common understanding of who does 
what, how, and why.  
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V. BOARD/ STAFF RELATIONSHIP 
 

A. Role of the Executive Director 
The Executive Director carries out the: 
• Activities that are mandated by the policy that the Board sets, 
• Ensures that the Board’s policy and direction are carried out (The Board establishes 

various governance policies including vision, mission, goals and strategies (often 
referred to as the “ends policy”), and the basic parameters within which the Executive 
Director and other staff must operate (at times described under “executive limitations” 
set by the Board)) 

• Develops administrative procedures, policies and guidelines to ensure that staff 
carries out the intent of the Board’s policies and goals. 

• Assumes the responsibility and authority for managing, supervising and administering 
the day to day operations of the organization 

 
A question sometimes raised with regards to the role of Executive Director, particularly 
for an Association that is first starting up, is whether or not a person can serve as both a 
paid staff person and voting Board member in the same organization. While not illegal in 
Alberta, this practice is generally viewed unfavorably by the public, funding agencies, 
and/or the membership. Even if there is no actual conflict of interest, there is a perceived 
conflict of interest, and the community may view the organization negatively.10 For this 
reason, many Executive Directors are deemed to be ex officio members of the Board, 
which means that they attend meetings by virtue of their position but are not permitted to 
vote. 
 
Some specific functions the Executive Director performs include the following: 
• Direct the day to day operations, 
• Develop business and operational plans, 
• Implement policy, 
• Implement business and strategic plans, 
• Hire, train, delegate, supervise, evaluate and discipline or release staff, 
• Develop annual budgets, 
• Attend all Board meetings, 
• Acts as a consultant and professional advisor to the Board and its committees, 
• Act as a spokesperson for the organization, 
• Develop operating policies and procedures, 
• Develop management information systems and internal controls, 
• Implement marketing and business development plans, 
• Conduct regular communications with the community, 
• Assess, monitor, communicate and mitigate the risk to the organization, 
• Measure performance, 
• Report significant activities to the Board, 
 
 
 
 

                                                 
10 Roles and Responsibilities of Non-profit Boards. Board Development Program, Alberta Community Development. January 2001. 
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B. Roles of other Staff 

In many small organizations the Board and staff that report to the Executive Director 
work closely together on a day-to-day basis. A close relationship between the Board and 
staff may be very practical and useful in accomplishing the goals of the Board. 
 
The Board must keep in mind that the administrative link to the Board is through the 
Executive Director and that he is ultimately responsible for the performance and day-to-
day activities of all staff. 
 
Just as the Board should allow the Executive Director to carry out the operational 
requirements of the organization, the Board should also allow the Executive Director to 
handle all staff related responsibilities. 
 
This further reinforces the notion that the Board is responsible for policy and that the 
Executive Director is responsible for all operational activities including the hiring, 
allocating, and monitoring of staff resources. 
 

C. Staff Hiring, Monitoring and Evaluation 
1. Hiring an Executive Director 

The roles, responsibilities and expectations of both the Board and the Executive 
Director should be clear and concise. One of the most important first steps in hiring 
an Executive Director is having a clearly written job description that accurately 
reflects: 
• What the Board expects the Executive Director to accomplish; 
• The working relationship between the Executive Director and the Board; 
• A summary of responsibilities and specific duties; and 
• The Board’s governing style. 
 
The job description is based on the mission, vision and strategic plan of the 
organization and clearly identifies the roles, responsibilities and expectations of the 
position. In addition there is a clear link between the Executive Director’s 
responsibilities and the policies of the organization. Key elements that should be 
incorporated into the description include areas of authority; reporting to the Board of 
directors; summary of responsibilities; and key responsibilities. 

 
After developing this job description, the Board should agree on the competencies, 
characteristics and experience the new Executive Director is required to have, as well 
as the salary and benefits package that will be offered.  

 
Once the job description, qualification and compensation matters have been 
resolved, subsequent steps in the hiring process can be summarized as follows: 

 
a) Assign responsibility for the hiring process. This includes identification of a 

search committee that includes people with personnel skills, knowledge about the 
organization, and experience with interviewing. In addition to Board members, 
members of the public and the exiting Executive Director may be included on this 
selection committee. Staff may also be invited to help assess the issues facing the 
organization and provide input on the characteristics and skills needed by the 
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Executive Director to meet this challenge, though they should have no role in the 
final selection process. 

b) Identify emerging strategic challenges. As indicated above, staff may be 
involved in this process as well as volunteers and the Board. The search 
committee’s task is to find the person with the appropriate knowledge, skills, 
attitudes and experience to meet these challenges. 

c) Set timelines for the process.  
d) Conduct pre-interview activities. In addition to reviewing the job description and 

compensation package, this step involves establishing a candidate rating sheet, 
considering internal candidates, and preparing interview questions. 

e) Advertise the position. 
f) Select candidates for interviews. 
g) Interview the candidates. A telephone interview may be conducted as a pre-

screening process, followed up by a personal interview of short-listed candidates. 
h) Select the most appropriate candidate. Prior to finalizing this process, 

reference checks should be conducted to verify information and ensure that 
findings support the results of the personal interviews and candidate selection. 

i) Make the job offer. Verbal offers should be followed by a formal offer provided in 
writing. 

j) Welcome the new Executive Director and provide orientation. The way in 
which the committee provides orientation or the new Executive Director can 
establish a positive working relationship between Board and staff. The committee 
needs to create a support system that helps the Executive Director to learn about 
the organization and to become familiar with the position. 

 
Links:  
Hiring the Right Executive Director for Your Organization: One Size Does Not Fit All 
http://culture.alberta.ca/bdp/bulletins.aspx#HireEd  
Provides information on what attributes, skills, and experiences to look for when hiring an 
executive director. 

 
2. Performance Monitoring and Evaluation 

The purpose of monitoring performance is to determine the degree to which Board 
policies are being fulfilled.  
 
The duty of the Executive Director is to be accountable to the entire Board for the 
performance of the organization – specifically, on how well the goals and objectives 
are being met and limitations not violated. 
 
As the Board’s single official link to the operating organization, the Executive 
Director’s performance is considered synonymous with the performance of the 
organization as a whole. Consequently, the Executive Director’s job contributions 
relate to performance in two areas: 
1) Organization operation within the boundaries of prudence and ethics established 

under Board governance policies, and 
2) Organizational accomplishment of the vision, mission, goals and strategies set by 

the Board. 
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A key responsibility of the Board is to evaluate the performance of the Executive 
Director. To be effective, this evaluation needs to be carried out on a regular basis, 
and in a planned and thoughtful manner. 

 
The performance of the Executive Director may be evaluated using several means: 
1) Monitoring reports that outline how the Executive Director’s activities are 

complying with the Board’s policies and goals, operating principals and executive 
limitations. Such monitoring reports would include appropriate monthly financial 
reports and other pertinent activity reports, including the Executive Director’s 
month end report. 

2) An annual report that includes annual financial statements prepared by an 
accredited accountant; compliance with Board policies relating to goals and 
objectives; and progress towards meeting the objectives set out in the 
organization’s operational plan. 

3) A regular evaluation or appraisal of the Executive Director’s performance as 
conducted by the Board. 

 
The performance appraisal of the Executive Director is an opportunity for a process 
that allows the Board and the Executive Director to improve communication and 
productivity in the organization. A performance appraisal is described as the process 
by which the Executive Director and a Board committee meet to: 
1) Formally review the accomplishments and challenges of the Executive Director, 
2) Identify and address areas of concern, 
3) Reach a decision regarding a salary and benefit increase, 
4) Identify the next performance appraisal period, 
5) Establish goals and action plans for the next appraisal period. 
 
Some of the benefits of a well-planned performance appraisal include: 
1) A better understanding of the work on the Executive Director and the organization, 
2) Clarity on the progress of the organization towards its mission, 
3) Having the Board focus on an agree about performance criteria related to the 

organization’s direction and priorities, 
4) Making sure that the Executive Director is being evaluated on organizational goals 

and accomplishments, rather than on personality traits, 
5) Enabling the Executive Director to give staff clearer directions for their work and 

performance, 
6) Identifying opportunities, challenges and strategic issues that the Board and 

Executive Director can address before problems arise, 
7) More effective responses to changes in funding, community needs and strategic 

direction, 
8) Improving the performance of the Executive Director and the organization, 
9) Building a better working relationship between the Executive Director and the 

Board, 
 

A written summary or final report should be carried out describing the evaluation 
conducted with the Executive Director. This report would include: 
1) Accomplishments over the appraisal period, 
2) Unmet goals, with an explanation, 
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3) Goals for the next appraisal period, 
4) A description of any follow-up with the Executive Director, 
5) Identification of professional development needs and opportunities. 

 
3. Succession Planning 

A key role that the Board must play is to develop a succession plan to ensure the 
ongoing success of the organization. In smaller organizations this can be very difficult 
to achieve as there may not be opportunities for internal resources to be trained to 
take on the role of Executive Director in the event that the current Executive Director 
leaves or is replaced. 

 
Nevertheless, the Board can minimize the impact of hiring a new Executive Director 
by putting some or all of the following elements of a succession plan in place: 
1) If practical, qualified staff are given developmental opportunities, 
2) The Executive Director’s job description is current and clearly identifies the skills   

and competencies required of the position, 
3) The Board has a plan to quickly implement a hiring strategy if required,  
4) The Board has identified interim management options if required. 

 
Links: 
Evaluating Your Executive Director's Performance 
http://culture.alberta.ca/bdp/bulletins.aspx#EvalEd  
This document provides information on how to conduct a performance appraisal of 
senior management. 
 
Hiring and Performance Appraisal of the Executive Director   
www.muttart.org/sites/default/files/downloads/publications/hiring_performance.pdf  
This document provides information an organization’s foundations (function of a Board 
etc), the hiring process, performance appraisal processes and more. 

 
D. Third Party Organization or Agency Roles 

In organizations that are being managed and staffed by third party organizations or 
agency employees the roles and responsibilities of such staff should be carefully 
articulated to ensure that the role in assisting the  organization or agency roles are fully 
understood. 
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VI.  ADDITIONAL RESOURCES FOR NON-PROFIT ORGANIZATIONS 
 

BOARD GOVERNANCE AND DEVELOPMENT: 
 
Board Development Program – Publications and Resources 
culture.alberta.ca/bdp/default.aspx 
Provides workshops, consultations, and resource materials pertaining to Board 
Development. 
 
Best- Practices for Non-Profits 
www.wcnwebsite.org/ 
This website provides best practices and tools on strategic planning and evaluation of non-
profit organizations developed from a highly-successful training program called MATRIX. 
 
Board Development: Drafting and Revising Bylaws for Not-for-Profit Organizations in Alberta  
Provides an overview to the incorporation of non-profit societies within the province of 
Alberta. Includes guidelines to consider when incorporating a Society and drafting bylaws 
and incorporation documents for a Society. 

Board Development Program Workbook Series 
culture.alberta.ca/bdp/workbooks.aspx 
A number of workbooks designed to assist non-profit organizations with developing job 
descriptions, drafting bylaws, recruiting and developing Board members, conducting 
performance appraisals, and the financial responsibilities of a non-profit organization. 
 
Free Management Library  
www.managementhelp.org/aboutfml/what-it-is.htm  
Library provides access to over 650 topics on starting, developing, evaluating, and operating 
non-profit organizations. 
 
The Muttart Foundation 
www.muttart.org/ 
Houses a workbook series on Board Development that assists charitable agencies examine 
their methods of operation and different ways of doing business. The workbook series 
include 1. Drafting and revising bylaws, 2, developing job descriptions for Board members, 
3. Hiring and performance appraisals of the executive director, and 4. Financial 
responsibilities of non-profit Boards. 
 
 
TERMS OF REFERENCE (TOR): 
 
Sample terms of reference –Standing offer for facilitating CES BC Workshops …. 
cesbc.wildapricot.org/  
Sample TOR that includes preparation and delivery of proposals, selection procedures and 
criteria, background, scope, and conditions. 
 
Template for terms of reference for project and program evaluations 
http://assets.panda.org/downloads/tor_for_programme_evaluations_10_01_05.doc  
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Template for the development of a Terms of Reference for project evaluations. 
 
 
TRAINING TOOLS FOR NON-PROFITS: 
 
Authenticity Consulting    
www.authenticityconsulting.com/pubs.htm   
Provides consulting services and publications with step-by-step guidelines, tools, and 
techniques about all aspects of Board development, governance, operations, and more. 
 
Centrepoint Advancing Nonprofit Management  
www.thecentrepoint.ca/today/index.html 
Provides a number of management and operational learning and development opportunities 
through seminars, workshops, and consulting services.  These learning opportunities aim at 
building operational capacity for the nonprofit sector. 
 
Non-Profit Library Commons 
http://nonprofitscan.imaginecanada.ca/ 
The Nonprofit Library Commons is a virtual library that houses information on signature 
research, public policy, corporate citizenship initiatives, and non-profit sector information. It 
is also a virtual meeting place where nonprofit sector community can exchange ideas, share 
experiences and learn from one another.  
 
Nonprofit Risk Management 
www.nonprofitrisk.org/ 
Provides assistance and resources for communities serving nonprofit organizations.  
Services include training, consulting, online tools, an e-store, and library. 
 
Whatcom Council of Nonprofits  
www.wcnwebsite.org/ 
Provides information and resources on starting and operating non-profit organization.  
 
Working in Partnership  
culture.alberta.ca/bdp/partnerships.aspx  
A toolkit for building partnerships including writing a partnership agreement. 
 
 
VOLUNTARY SECTOR INFORMATION:  
 
Calgary Chamber of Voluntary Organizations (CCVO)  
www.calgarycvo.org/resource-centre/search/results/taxonomy%3A36  
Provides information and resources on leadership in policy and funding issues, insurance 
and human resources issues and promotes awareness and understanding of the voluntary 
sector. Also includes research and information resources for and about the voluntary sector.  
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DIRECTORY 
 
Business Directory.com 
www.businessdictionary.com/ 
Provides over 20,000 definitions and terminologies covered in the world of business.  
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Appendices (Links) 
 

Agreements—letters of commitment and charters 
Sample Charter Statement 
XYZ Organization’s Charter Statement stating its Mission, Principles, and Goals.  

 
Board development and governance 

Board Development Program  
http://culture.alberta.ca/bdp/bulletins.aspx
 
Sample Table of Contents: Reference Binder for Board Members 
 
Best Practices for Executive Directors and Boards of Nonprofit Organizations  
 
Best- Practices for Non-Profits 
www.wcnwebsite.org/ 
 
Board Development: Drafting and Revising Bylaws for Not-for-Profit Organizations in Alberta  
 
Board Development Program Workbook Series 
culture.alberta.ca/bdp/workbooks.aspx 
 
Board Evaluation Tool 
 
Corporate Governance 
 
Developing a Work Plan 
 
Free Management Library  
www.managementhelp.org/aboutfml/what-it-is.htm  
 
The Muttart Foundation 
www.muttart.org/ 
 
Whatcom Council of NonProfits   
www.wcnwebsite.org  

 
Communications planning 

Communications Planning 
 
Communications Plan Template 

 
Financial responsibilities 

Board Development: Financial Responsibilities of Not-for-Profit Boards 
 
Financial Responsibilities of Not-for-Profit Boards: A Self-Guided Guidebook     
This document can also be found at the Muttart Foundation website: http://www.muttart.org/  
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Financial Sample Template of Activities and Costs 
 

Forms required for incorporating 
Application to Form a Society   
www.servicealberta.gov.ab.ca/pdf/Forms/REG3088.pdf 
 
Articles of Amendment Form 
www.servicealberta.gov.ab.ca/pdf/Forms/REG3054.pdf  
 
List of forms required for non profit organizations 
www.servicealberta.gov.ab.ca/848.cfm 
 
List of forms required by Societies  
www.servicealberta.gov.ab.ca/847.cfm 
 
List of forms for non-profit companies 
www.servicealberta.gov.ab.ca/714.cfm 

 
Notice of Address or Notice of Change of Address Form 
www.servicealberta.gov.ab.ca/pdf/Forms/REG3016.pdf 
 

 
GST rebates 

GST Rebate for Non-Profit Organizations-Government Funding 
www.cra-arc.gc.ca/E/pbg/gf/gst523-1/README.html 
 
GST Rebate  Program  
http://www.buildingcanada-chantierscanada.gc.ca/funprog-progfin/base/gst-tps/gst-tps-
eng.html 

 
GST/HST Rebate Application for Public Service Bodies. 
www.cra-arc.gc.ca/E/pbg/gf/gst66/README.html 

 
Incorporating a non-profit organization 

Business Corporations Act, Business Corporations Regulation 
www.qp.alberta.ca/574.cfm?page=2000_118.cfm&leg_type=Regs&isbncln=9780779740406 
 
Companies Act 
www.qp.alberta.ca/574.cfm?page=C21.cfm&leg_type=Acts&isbncln=9780779747986  
 
Companies Regulation 
www.qp.alberta.ca/574.cfm?page=2000_119.cfm&leg_type=Regs&isbncln=0773287973  
 
 
Corporate Registry Providers  
www.servicealberta.gov.ab.ca/719.cfm 
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Obligations and Responsibilities After Incorporation or Registration 
www.servicealberta.gov.ab.ca/718.cfm 

Societies—what it is and how to form one 
www.servicealberta.gov.ab.ca/716.cfm#jm 
 
Societies Act   
www.qp.alberta.ca/574.cfm?page=S14.cfm&leg_type=Acts&isbncln=0779726936 
 
Societies Regulations 
www.qp.alberta.ca/574.cfm?page=2000_122.cfm&leg_type=Regs&isbncln=9780779732722  
 

Identifying opportunities 
Business Opportunity Identification Workbook   

 
Board development and governance 
culture.alberta.ca/bdp/bulletins.aspx 

 
Legal 

Directors’ insurance 
Alberta Voluntary Sector Insurance Council 
www.ibc.ca/en/Business_Insurance/Alberta_Voluntary_Sector/index.asp  
 
Insurance Toolkit for the Voluntary Sector 
www.volunteeralberta.ab.ca/insurance/ 
 
Insurance Toolkit for the Voluntary Sector: A Guide for Non-Profits and Charities 
Also found on the Insurance Bureau of Canada website at: 
www.ibc.ca/en/Business_Insurance/documents/Alberta_Voluntary/Insurance_Toolkit_online.
pdf  

 
Freedom of Information and Privacy (FOIP) 

Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act   
 
Meetings  

Effective Meetings 
 

Effective Meetings.com  
http://effectivemeetings.com/  
 
Facilitator Recorder Guidelines  
 
Board Development: Meetings That Work  

 
Robert’s Rules of Order  
www.rulesonline.com 
 
Bourinot’s Rules of Order:  
http://tao.ca/~cupe3903/web/?q=node/29/print 
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Operational plans 

Six-Sigma—Benchmarking and other management tools 
http://www.isixsigma.com/index.php?option=com_k2&view=itemlist&layout=category&task=category&id=32&Itemid=166 
 
Sample Operational Plan 

 
Planning and reporting 

Developing Detailed Performance Measures Worksheet 
 
Developing Performance Measures, The Public Strategies Group (PSG) 
www.psg.us/resources/pdfcontent/PerfMeasurePracField.pdf 
 
Public Strategies Group  
www.psg.us/resources/writings.html 
 
Managing Contracts: Working Effectively with Consultants 
 
SWOT Analysis Worksheet 

 
Recruiting 

Board recruitment  
Board Building: Recruiting and Developing Effective Board Members for Not-for-Profit 
Organizations 
 
Developing Job Descriptions for Board Members of Nonprofit Organizations 
 

Senior management recruitment and evaluation 
Executive Leadership in the Non-Profit Sector  
http://business.macewan.ca/gmcc/vsm/home/index.cfm?CFID=75484&CFTOKEN=18412524  

 
Evaluating Your Executive Director's Performance 
culture.alberta.ca/bdp/bulletins.aspx#EvalEd  
 
Hiring the Right Executive Director for Your Organization: One Size Does Not Fit All 
culture.alberta.ca/bdp/bulletins.aspx#HireEd  

 
Hiring and Performance Appraisal of the Executive Director   
www.muttart.org/download/Hiring%20Performance.pdf  
 
Primer for Directors of Non-profit Corporations—legal rights and obligations  
strategis.ic.gc.ca/epic/site/cilp-pdci.nsf/en/h_cl00688e.html 

 
 
 
Terms of Reference (TOR) 

Sample terms of reference –Standing offer for facilitating CES BC Workshops …. 
bc.evaluationcanada.ca/cesbcrfp.pdf  
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Template for terms of reference for project and program evaluations 
assets.panda.org/downloads/tor_for_programme_evaluations_10_01_05.doc  

 
 
Training tools for non-profits 

Authenticity Consulting    
www.authenticityconsulting.com/pubs.htm  
 
Centrepoint Advancing Nonprofit Management  
www.thecentrepoint.ca/today/index.html 
 
Non-Profit Library Commons 
nonprofitscan.imaginecanada.ca/ 
 
Nonprofit Risk Management 
ww.nonprofitrisk.org/  
 
Whatcom Council of Nonprofits  
www.wcnwebsite.org/ 
 
Working in Partnership  
culture.alberta.ca/bdp/partnerships.aspx 
 
Business Directory.com 
www.businessdictionary.com/ 

 
Voluntary sector information 

Calgary Chamber of Voluntary Organizations (CCVO)  
www.calgarycvo.org/insur_resources.html  
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